No. 71445-7-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

CITY OF SEATTLE, d/b/a HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT, Petitioner,

٧.

GEORGIANA ARNOLD, Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

PAUL J. LAWRENCE GREGORY J. WONG SARAH S. WASHBURN PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP 1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98101-3404 (206) 245-1700

MOLLY DAILY PETER S. HOLMES SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY Columbia Center 701 Fifth Ave., Suite 2050 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 684-8200

Attorneys for Petitioner City of Seattle





###

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case, that attorney fees under RCW 49.48.030 are available in administrative proceedings where the administrative body lacks the authority to award fees, is contrary to every other appellate court decision to address the issue. *See Cohn v. Dep't of Corr.*, 78 Wn. App. 63, 67-70, 895 P.2d 857 (1995); *Trachtenberg v. Dep't of Corr.*, 122 Wn. App. 491, 496-97, 93 P.3d 217 (2004); *Int'l Union of Police Ass'n, Local 748 v. Kitsap Cnty.*, 183 Wn. App. 794, 800-02, 333 P.3d 524 (2014); *see also McIntyre v. State*, 135 Wn. App 594, 601, 141 P.3d 75 (2006).

Here, Petitioner City of Seattle ("City") has voluntarily adopted a civil service code governing personnel administration that provides that employees may be represented in employment disputes before the Civil Service Commission ("Commission") "at [their] own expense." SMC 4.04.260(E) (emphasis added). The City's code thus specifically precludes the Commission from awarding fees incurred at the administrative level. Contrary to this plain language and in direct conflict with the above-cited case law, the Court of Appeals here held that Respondent Georgiana Arnold was entitled to her attorney fees incurred during a civil service administrative proceeding before the Commission under RCW 49.48.030. This opinion is in conflict with multiple other

court of appeals decisions rendering review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Further, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this case involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. The City, like many other governments, voluntarily provides a civil service scheme for its employees as a way to ensure employees are hired, promoted, and discharged based on merit as well as to provide expedited relief and a simplified procedure to resolve grievances, without limiting an employee's ultimate recourse to the courts. In establishing its civil service system, the City determined that employees are represented in administrative proceedings at their "own expense," thus limiting the public cost of administering this scheme. The Court of Appeals decision here eviscerates this important and explicit limitation and imposes significant additional costs on the City. In doing so, the Court of Appeals creates a disincentive for municipal governments to continue to provide voluntary civil service schemes. And the decision's effect is not limited to municipal governments. Indeed, the state itself will now be liable for fee awards under the state civil service scheme. The Court of Appeals' decision in this case will thus affect multiple

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the City's voluntary civil service scheme in this Petition do not include City fire and police employees, for whom the City is required to establish civil service systems under state law. *See* Ch. 41.08 RCW and Ch. 41.12 RCW.

governments and their employees and impose significant unanticipated public costs. Review of this important issue is appropriate.

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is the City of Seattle, d/b/a Human Services Department, defendant in the trial court and respondent in the Court of Appeals.

#### III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued its published decision in *Arnold v*. *City of Seattle*, No. 71445–7–I, on March 23, 2015 ("Decision"). A copy of the Decision is attached as Appendix A. The Court of Appeals denied the City's timely motion for reconsideration on April 24, 2015. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is attached as Appendix B.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Multiple Court of Appeals decisions hold that attorney fees incurred in an administrative proceeding are not recoverable under RCW 49.48.030 where the administrative body does not have authority to award attorney fees. Should this Court grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) where the Court of Appeals decision here directly conflicts with those decisions?
- 2. The City voluntarily provides a civil service administrative procedure for the benefit of its employees and specifically states that attorney fees are not available in civil service proceedings. Should this Court grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) where the Court of Appeals decision here

eviscerates the City's explicit limitation on attorney fees, creates a disincentive for cities to provide voluntary civil service procedures, and imposes a new liability for attorney fees on the state civil service scheme?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The City's voluntary civil service code.

The City has voluntarily adopted a civil service code governing personnel administration and establishing an expedited, informal process for resolving employee grievances. With certain exceptions not relevant here, all City employees are members of the civil service. Seattle City Charter, art. XVI, sec. 3. The purpose of the City's civil service code is to establish comprehensive "uniform procedures for recruitment, selection, development, and maintenance of an effective and responsible work force". *Id.*, sec. 1. The City's personnel administration system is "based upon merit principles as enumerated in the [City Charter]". SMC 4.04.020.

The City through its civil service code provisions has established a specific procedure for appealing employment decisions. The Commission is authorized by code to "hear appeals involving the administration of the personnel system." SMC 4.04.250(L)(3). Employees may appeal their "demotion, suspension, [or] termination of employment" provided they have exhausted applicable grievance remedies under the code. SMC

4.04.260(A). Employees have the right to cross examine witnesses and produce evidence at hearings. SMC 4.04.260(G). Employees may also "be represented at a hearing before the Commission by a person of his/her choosing at his/her own expense." SMC 4.04.260(E) (emphasis added). The civil service code requires the Commission to conduct hearings on a "timely basis" and render decisions within 90 days. SMC 4.04.260(H).

#### B. Arnold's appeal to the Commission.

During the relevant time period, Arnold was a City employee within the City's Human Services Department governed by the City's civil service code. *See* Clerks' Papers ("CP") 33-36. In September 2011, Arnold was demoted from her manager position, which resulted in a pay cut.<sup>2</sup> CP 2. The basis for this personnel action was Arnold's inadequate supervision of an investigation into whistleblower claims of fraudulent payments and/or misappropriation of funds initially reported to Arnold's subordinate. *See* CP 113-37. Arnold appealed her demotion to the Commission, which assigned her case to a Hearing Examiner. CP 113. Arnold decided to hire counsel to represent her throughout the civil service proceedings. CP 21-23, 33-36, 113, 143.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In the event of employee misconduct, City personnel rules provide for various degrees of discipline ranging from a verbal warning to termination. CP 127-28; *see also* SMC 4.04.230 (outlining City's progressive discipline system).

In July 2012, the Hearing Examiner determined that Arnold had engaged in serious misconduct constituting a "major disciplinary offense" and that the City had just cause to impose discipline. CP 131, 135-36. The Hearing Examiner concluded, however, that the City failed to establish just cause to demote Arnold. CP 136. The Hearing Examiner lessened Arnold's discipline from a demotion to a two-week suspension without pay. CP 131, 136. The Hearing Examiner also awarded back pay of less than \$30,000 and related employee benefits. CP 48, 136. In October 2012, the City paid in full the back wages to which Arnold was entitled. CP 2.

# C. Arnold's attorney fee request is denied by the Commission and the superior court.

After the Hearing Examiner's decision, Arnold filed a petition for an award of attorney fees and costs pursuant to RCW 49.48.030, which provides for an award of reasonable attorney fees "[i]n any action in which any person is successful in recovering judgment for wages or salary owed to him or her". CP 144. Arnold sought almost \$350,000 in attorney fees for the administrative proceeding. CP 21. The Hearing Examiner denied the petition, concluding that—under the plain language of the civil service code—the Commission lacked authority to award attorney fees and costs incurred in a civil service appeal. CP 144. Arnold appealed to the

Commission, which affirmed the Hearing Examiner on the ground that no statutory authority exists in the civil service code permitting the Commission to award attorney fees. CP 144.

Arnold then filed in King County Superior Court an appeal of the Commission's denial of attorney fees and a complaint for attorney fees under RCW 49.48.030. CP 1-3. The parties filed dispositive cross motions. The City sought dismissal based on the pleadings and Arnold sought summary judgment claiming she was entitled to attorney fees incurred for representation at her civil service hearing.<sup>3</sup> CP 8-39, 96-109. The superior court denied Arnold's motion for summary judgment and granted the City's motion to dismiss her request for attorney fees. CP 192-93.

#### D. The Court of Appeals' Decision.

The Court of Appeals reversed the superior court in a published decision. The Court interpreted RCW 49.48.030 to provide for attorney fees incurred in civil service appeals despite the explicit language in the civil service code to the contrary. Decision at 11-12. In doing so, the Court dismissed multiple prior decisions of the Court of Appeals that held

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> At oral argument, Arnold withdrew her appeal to the Hearing Examiner's final decision and informed the court that she would proceed only on her wage claim under RCW 49.48.030. Record of Proceedings (Mar. 23, 2013) at 3:13-21. At the time she filed her summary judgment motion, Arnold's fee request had grown to nearly \$400,000 encompassing amounts incurred in the administrative proceedings and superior court action. CP 20.

the opposite. See Cohn, 78 Wn. App. at 67-70; Trachtenberg, 122 Wn. App. at 496-97; Int'l Union, 183 Wn. App. at 800-02; see also McIntyre, 135 Wn. App at 601. Indeed, the Court of Appeals disregarded stare decisis and overturned its own prior decisions without determining that those decisions were "demonstrably incorrect or harmful" per the applicable standard. Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett ("Fire Fighters"), 146 Wn.2d 29, 37 n.9, 42 P.3d 1265 (2002) (internal quotations and citation omitted); see also State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 547, 947 P.2d 700 (1997) ("Stare decisis requires a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned."). The Court denied the City's timely motion for reconsideration. See App. B.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals'

Decision conflicts with prior decisions of the Court of Appeals and raises an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4 (b). Moreover, in *Fire Fighters* this Court explicitly left open the question presented here:

"Because the issue in this case deals exclusively with attorney fees for an arbitration proceeding, we decline at this time to address whether RCW 49.48.030 would apply to other types of administrative or quasijudicial

proceedings."<sup>4</sup> Fire Fighters, 146 Wn.2d at 42 n.11 (emphasis added).

Review of the Court of Appeals' Decision thus presents an opportunity for this Court to resolve the open question.

A. The Decision is in conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals regarding RCW 49.48.030's application to civil service proceedings.

The Court of Appeals' holding that RCW 49.48.030 applies to the civil service proceedings at issue here conflicts with numerous prior Court of Appeals decisions. Indeed, previous cases with fact patterns remarkably similar to this case explicitly hold that civil service employees cannot recover fees incurred in administrative proceedings that do not include attorney fees as a remedy under RCW 49.48.030.

First, in *Cohn*, the Court of Appeals addressed a public employee's right to fees under the state civil service scheme. There, the Department of Corrections disciplined one of its employees by cutting his pay by ten percent for six months. *Cohn*, 78 Wn. App. at 65. The employee successfully challenged his pay cut at the administrative level and a hearing officer reversed the disciplinary action and reinstated his pay and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Fire Fighters Court reserved the issue even though a prior decision, Hanson v. City of Tacoma, 105 Wn.2d 864, 719 P.2d 104 (1986), affirmed a trial court's award of attorney fees to a civil service employee under RCW 49.48.030. The Hanson Court focused on whether the claimant's "wage claim was inconsistent with the grounds for certiorari" and affirmed an award of fees based on the superior court's review and award of back wages. Hanson, 105 Wn.2d at 872-73. Hanson did not discuss the civil service scheme or address fees incurred at the administrative level. Thus, it did not address the issue presented here and left open in Fire Fighters.

benefits. *Id.* On remand from the Personnel Appeals Board (the state's equivalent of a city civil service commission), the employee requested attorney fees pursuant to RCW 49.48.030. *Id.* The hearing examiner denied the request, and the Board affirmed, concluding it had no statutory authority to award such fees. *Id.* The employee then appealed to the superior court, which dismissed his request for fees. *Id.* 

Division Two of the Court of Appeals addressed "whether the Board has authority to award attorney fees" under RCW 49.48.030. *Id.* at 66. While noting that courts generally construe RCW 49.48.030 liberally as a remedial statute, the Court found "persuasive reasons exist to prohibit the judicial expansion of the scope of the statute to permit the Board the power to award attorney fees." *Id.* at 67. Specifically, the Court noted that administrative agencies have only the powers expressly granted or necessarily implied from statutory grants of authority, and that the state's civil service laws granted no power to award attorney fees. *Id.* Because the Board lacked authority to award attorney fees, the superior court also lacked such authority. *Id.* at 69-70; *see also Punton v. City of Seattle Public Safety Comm'n*, 32 Wn. App. 959, 970, 650 P.2d 1138 (1982), *review denied*, 98 Wn.2d 1014 (1983), *overruled on other grounds by Danielson v. City of Seattle*, 108 Wn.2d 788, 742 P.2d 717 (1987)

(superior court lacked authority to award attorney fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 where administrative body lacked such authority).

In *Fire Fighters*, this Court discussed without disapproval *Cohn*'s central holding that a superior court has no authority to award fees under RCW 49.48.030 where the administrative agency had no such authority. The court distinguished *Cohn* on grounds that it involved an appeal from a government agency rather than an arbitration proceeding. *Fire Fighters*, 146 Wn.2d at 42-43. Thus, the *Fire Fighters* court explicitly chose not to overrule *Cohn*.<sup>5</sup>

Second, Division One of the Court of Appeals reached a result similar to *Cohn* in *Trachtenberg*. There, a state civil service employee was initially terminated but was reinstated to a demoted position after he appealed to the Personnel Appeals Board. *Trachtenberg*, 122 Wn. App. at 493. As a result, he was entitled to back pay. *Id.* The employee filed suit in superior court seeking attorney fees incurred in his successful Board appeal. *Id.* 

The Court of Appeals found *Cohn* controlling and affirmed. The Court noted that attorney fees were absent from the list of enumerated remedies in the civil service statute and, thus, the legislature did not grant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While the *Fire Fighters* court disagreed with *Cohn*'s reading of *Hanson* pertaining to whether fees must be recovered in the "same action" as the action in which wages or salary owed are awarded, the Court did not disapprove of *Cohn*'s conclusions regarding authority to award fees in the first place. *Fire Fighters*, 146 Wn.2d at 42-43.

the Board the authority to award attorney fees. *Id.* at 496-97. The Court concluded, "Because of the limitations placed on appeals to the Board, we conclude that the legislature did not intend RCW 49.48.030 to apply to disciplinary challenges before the Board." *Id.* at 497.

Third, in *International Union*, Division One cited with approval both *Cohn* and *Trachtenberg* in holding that the superior court erred in awarding attorney fees incurred in an unfair labor practices proceeding before the Public Employment Relations Commission, where the Commission's authority to award fees was limited to extraordinary circumstances and the parties agreed no such circumstances were present. *Int'l Union*, 183 Wn. App. at 798-802. The *International Union* court relied on both *Cohn* and *Trachtenberg* to hold that the commission at issue lacked authority to award fees under the facts presented, and therefore the superior court also lacked such authority. *Id.* at 802.

Finally, in *McIntyre*, Division Two of the Court of Appeals remained consistent in its treatment of civil service proceedings. *McIntyre* involved an employee who was exempt from the state civil service law. *McIntyre*, 135 Wn. App. at 601-02. The Court distinguished *Cohn* and *Trachtenberg* on the ground that both cases were determined under the state civil service law, a context in which the claimant is only entitled to certain enumerated remedies. *Id.* at 601. Thus, the holding in *McIntyre* 

treated civil service appeals as outside the RCW 49.48.030 scheme, consistent with *Cohn* and *Trachtenberg*.<sup>6</sup> Notably, nothing in *McIntyre* prohibits statutorily-limited fee remedies for claimants in administrative proceedings.

The Court of Appeals decisions discussed above establish a general rule governing applicability of RCW 49.48.030 to administrative proceedings: superior courts lack authority under RCW 49.48.030 to award attorney fees incurred in administrative proceedings where the administrative agency lacked such authority.

Here, not only are attorney fees not one of the enumerated remedies the Commission may award, but the civil service code explicitly provides to the contrary and mandates that claimants may be represented "at [their] own expense." SMC 4.04.260(E). The Court of Appeals' Decision ignores this plain language and conflicts with the well-established rule. Indeed, the Court's Decision turns the rule on its head. See Decision at 12 ("[W]e find no reason to hold that a superior court's authority to award attorney fees incurred in an administrative proceeding depends on whether the administrative agency had authority to award attorney fees.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Further, the *McIntyre* court distinguished *Cohn* and *Trachtenberg* because the trial court awarded the claimant in *McIntyre* a greater wage amount than awarded in the administrative hearings. *McIntyre*, 135 Wn. App. at 602. Here, like in *Cohn* and *Trachtenberg*, Arnold did not receive a greater wage amount from the trial court.

In doing so, the Court of Appeals ignored the principle of *stare decisis* and apparently overruled prior decisions without applying the proper standard—namely, without showing that the rule established by those prior decisions was demonstrably incorrect or harmful. *See Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d at 547 ("Stare decisis requires a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned."); *Fire Fighters*, 146 Wn.2d at 37 n.9 (same). The conflict regarding the relevance of administrative agency authority for an award of attorney fees under RCW 49.48.030 warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

# B. Review is warranted because the Decision raises an issue of substantial public importance.

The Decision also raises an issue of substantial public importance because (1) it creates a disincentive for cities to establish voluntary civil service codes for personnel administration that benefit public employees and (2) it disrupts settled expectations regarding attorney fees incurred in the state civil service context.

The City established its civil service code voluntarily under its broad constitutional and statutory powers. *See* Seattle City Charter, art. XVI; *see also* SMC Chapter 4.04. In establishing its civil service code, the City has gone above and beyond the mandatory civil service laws that apply to city firefighters and police under RCW Chapters 41.08 and

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