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

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

The City argues two grounds for a review - a split in the decisions 

of the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(2)) and the contention this case 

involves an issue of substantial public importance that should be resolved 

by this Court (RAP 13.4(b)). Each will be addressed in turn. 

(1) Review Is Not Merited under RAP 13.4(b)(2) Where the 
Court of Appeals Applied this Court's Controlling Ruling 
in Fire Fighters and Resolved any Lingering Conflicts 
within Its Own Decisions 

5 E.g., Pet. at 6, 16. The actual amount of any fee award for the Seattle Civil 
Service Commission and trial court proceedings will abide the trial court's decision on 
the appropriate amount of recoverable fees and expenses. Op. at 13. There is some irony 
in the City's complaints about Arnold's fees when its conduct forced her to retain counsel 
and it has had numerous assistant city attorneys represent it in this case. It now involves 
a private law fmn to prepare its petition to this Court, at further expense. 
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(a) Under Fire Fighters. the Proceedings at Issue Here 
Are an "Action" Under RCW 49.48.030 

It is particularly telling that the City does not seek review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(1). Nor could it. The City ignores the important point that 

this Court in Fire Fighters ruled that (1) RCW 49.48.030 is a remedial 

statute to be liberally construed in favor of persons like Arnold who have 

recovered unpaid wages, and (2) ruled the statute applies to any "action" 

akin to a judicial proceeding where a party recovers wages or salary 

owing. Fire Fighters, 146 Wn.2d at 41. 

As the City also acknowledges, the Court of Appeals specifically 

rested its opinion upon the Fire Fighters court's statutory interpretation. 

The nature of the proceeding does not control. Simply saying a 

proceeding is a court action or an administrative proceeding is not enough. 

Op. at 10. The issue is whether the proceeding was effectively "an 

exercise of a judicial function," that is, the equivalent of an action in court. 

Op. at 11; Fire Fighters, 146 Wn.2d at 41. The City has conceded that its 

Civil Service Commission proceeding here bore all the characteristics of 

an action for wages in court. 

Rather than forthrightly addressing Fire Fighters and the Court of 

Appeals' analysis of it, the City instead contends in its petition that the 

Court of Appeals has interpreted RCW 49.48.030 inconsistently, and that 
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the question of whether the civil service proceeding at issue here is an 

"action" under RCW 49.48.030 is still an "open question." Pet. at 8-9. 

This Court did indeed note that the facts of the Fire Fighters case 

involved arbitration, and declined to adopt a blanket rule that would apply 

to all other non-court proceedings regardless of their specific structure. 

Fire Fighters, 146 Wn.2d at 42 n.11. This Court was wise to refrain; a 

blanket rule would have meant that hundreds of different types of city, 

county, and state administrative and quasi-judicial proceedings of all 

stripes would have been subject to the rule regardless of whether they 

individually have the indicia of a judicial proceeding. 

However, lower comts can, as the Court of Appeals did here, apply 

the core holding in Fire Fighters to the facts of a case without waiting for 

this Court individually to announce each type of city, county, or state 

action that qualifies under RCW 49.48.030. That core holding allows fees 

in non-court actions that bear all the eannarks of an action in court, i.e., 

actions that constitute the exercise of a judicial-like function. 146 Wn.2d 

at 38. The City's argument here, that this Court must pronounce on the 

applicability of RCW 49.48.030 to each and every type of proceeding 

available in this State, is untenable and unnecessary. 

Also, this Court has twice made clear that RCW 49.48.030 applies 

to proceedings like the one at issue here. Hanson v. City of Tacoma, 105 
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Wn.2d 864, 719 P.2d 104 (1986) (judicial review of a civil service 

suspension); Fire Fighters, supra (recovery of back pay in collective 

bargaining arbitration proceedings). The Court of Appeals has done so as 

well in Mcintyre v. Washington State Patrol, 135 Wn. App. 594, 141 P.3d 

75 (2006) (WSP administrative disciplinary decision). 

In Fire Fighters, this Court addressed the availability of attorney 

fees under RCW 49.48.030 for employees who recovered back pay in 

arbitration. 146 Wn.2d at 32. In a prior proceeding, an arbitrator had 

found that the Fire Fighters employees had been suspended without pay in 

violation of a collective bargaining agreement. !d. The arbitrator 

therefore awarded back pay for the period of the suspension. !d. The 

union that had represented the employees during the arbitration sought 

attorney fees in a separate superior court action under RCW 49.48.030, 

and the matter ultimately proceeded to this Court. This Court found that 

the union was entitled to attorney fees pursuant to the statute. !d. 

This Court held in Fire Fighters that an arbitration is the functional 

equivalent of a court proceeding, an "action" under RCW 49.48.030. 146 

Wn.2d at 37-39. This Court also noted that an "action" is more than a 

judicial proceeding, id. at 40, in concluding: 

It is clear that had this case been brought in superior 
court, attorney fees would have been available. Because 
RCW 49.48.030 is a remedial statute, which must be 
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construed to effectuate its purpose, we find no reason to not 
interpret "action" to include arbitration proceedings. A 
restrict interpretation of "action" would preclude recovery 
of attorney fees in cases involving arbitration even though 
the employee is successful in recovering wages or salary 
owed. Thus, it would be inconsistent with the legislative 
policy in favor of payment of wages due employees. See 
Schilling, 136 Wn.2d at 157, 961 P.2d 371. Therefore, we 
hold that "action" as used in RCW 49.48.030 includes 
grievance arbitration proceedings in which wages or salary 
owed are recovered. 

!d. at 41. By its terms, RCW 49.48.030, applies to any action in which 

back wages are recovered. That policy is certainly vindicated where like 

here, the proceeding is akin to litigation in the judicial setting. 

Similarly, in Hanson, this Court affirmed an award of attorney fees 

under RCW 49.48.030 to an employee who was suspended for more than 

the thirty days allowed under the City of Tacoma civil service rules and 

successfully challenged the discipline imposed against him. A portion of 

the wage recovery at issue in that case was from a period of time when the 

employee was demoted to a lower-paying position in connection with a 

suspension. !d. Hanson plainly concluded that judicial review of 

Tacoma's Civil Service Board's decision was an "action" under RCW 

49.48.030. 105 Wn.2d at 872. The City addresses Hanson only in 

footnotes. Pet. at 9 n.4; 11 at n.5. 

Finally, in Mcintyre, the trooper brought a separate action for fees 

after the successful judicial review of the Washington State Patrol 
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("WSP") administrative decision6 to terminate her employment. Division 

II rejected the notion that any fee recovery by a person recovering back 

wages depends upon the nature ofthe action.7 135 Wn. App. at 603-04. 

(b) The Court of Appeals Here Did Not Create a 
Conflict With Its Other Opinions. It Acknowledged 
and Resolved any Apparent Conflict by Properly 
Applying Fire Fighters 

The central argument advanced by the City is that the Court of 

Appeals decision here conflicts with three Court of Appeals decisions, 

ignoring the fact that Fire Fighters, a decision of this Court, controls. Pet. 

at 9-13.8 The City claims that the decision here conflicts with Cohn v. 

Dep't ofCorrections, 78 Wn. App. 63, 895 P.2d 857 (1995); Trachtenberg 

v. Wash. State Dep't of Corrections, 122 Wn. App. 491, 93 P.3d 217, 

6 In Mcintyre, the State asserted that Mcintyre could have recovered fees if she 
had brought a grievance proceeding against the WSP. A WSP grievance proceeding is an 
administrative proceeding very much akin to Arnold's Civil Service Commission 
proceeding. 

7 The City argues offhand in a footnote that if an employee obtains one dollar of 
added relief upon judicial review of an administrative decision, the employee recovers his 
or her fees under RCW 49.48.030, but if the employee incurs substantial fees and 
expenses to vindicate his or her rights to wages in a major administrative trial, the 
employee does not recover fees. Pet. at 13 n.6. Not only does the language of RCW 
49.48.030 not support this result, this is hardly an incentive for an attorney to take a case 
to secure an employee's wage rights, the very purpose of the statute. Hume v. Am. 
Disposal Ca., 124 Wn.2d 656, 673, 880 P.2d 988 (1994) (statute's purpose is to provide 
incentives to aggrieved employees to assert their wage rights). The Court of Appeals 
properly rejected this argument, as no longer valid post-Fire Fighters, op. at 9-10, a point 
not mentioned in the City's petition. 

8 The City also cites Mcintyre, pet. at 12-13, but, as noted supra, Mcintyre 
supports Arnold's position. 
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review denied, 103 P.3d 801 (2004); and Int'l Union of Police Ass'n, 

Loca/748 v. Kitsap Cnty., 183 Wn. App. 794, 333 P.3d 524 (2014). 

The City's petition fails to acknowledge that Court of Appeals here 

explicitly addressed those decisions in its opinion and resolved any 

apparent conflict by overruling all conflicting analysis in Cohn, Int '1 

Union, 9 and Trachtenberg. Op. at 6-11. 

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that because of this Court's 

decision in Fire Fighters, the decisions in Cohn and Trachtenberg were 

unsustainable. In fact, it explicitly so stated: 

Discussing Fire Fighters in Trachtenberg, we said that the 
Supreme Court's disagreement with Cohn's reading of 
Hanson 'was not material to the issue we have here.' That 
was incorrect. ... [I]t was only by distinguishing Hanson 
that the Cohn court was able to hold that an administrative 
scheme with limited remedies precludes application of 
RCW 49.48.030. That distinction did not survive Fire 
Fighters, as noted above." 

Op. at 1 0 (citation omitted). The Court of Appeals may not have used the 

term "overruled" in its opinion, but this explicit acknowledgement that 

Cohn and Trachtenberg conflicted .with Fire Fighters eliminated any 

9 The Court of Appeals made clear that lnt 'I Union was no longer sustainable in 
that it relied on analysis from Cohn that the Court was overruling. It also noted in its 
opinion at 8 n.2 that lnt'l Union could also be sustained in light of Arnold on the same 
basis this Court distinguished an interest arbitration from a grievance arbitration - it was 
not an "action" in the sense this Court found in Fire Fighters. This Court bas now 
specifically concluded that interest arbitration is not in the nature of an action. Kitsap 
County Deputy Sheriffs' Guild v. Kitsap County,_ Wn.2d ~ _ P.3d ~ 2015 WL 
3643476 (2015). 
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alleged conflict and effectively overruled those cases on the issue the City 

raises here. 

As the Court of Appeals concluded, after Fire Fighters, the proper 

analysis rests on two questions: {1) was the proceeding an "action" within 

the meaning of RCW 49.48.030, a proceeding that was the functional 

equivalent of a court proceeding? and (2) did the plaintiff recover wages 

due him/her? If so, fees could be recovered under the statute regardless of 

whether the agency had express statutory to award fees. Op. at 13.10 

To the extent that the City believes Cohn and Trachtenberg are 

still intact, those cases ultimately create no conflict given the facts here. 

Both cases involved state civil service statutes that specifically address the 

remedies afforded state employees so that RCW 49.48.030 would not 

apply. In other words, the Legislature apparently decided not to apply its 

own legislative enactment, RCW 49.48.030, to certain proceedings.n 

10 Mcintyre expressly supports this analysis. Op. at 8 (''But this court now has 
in Mcintyre a post-Fire Fighters decision concluding that remedies offered by an 
administrative agency are not 'self-limiting' and thus do not exclude the application of 
RCW 49.48.030."). 

11 
The City's cited Woodbury v. City of Seattle, 172 Wn. App. 747,292 P.3d 

134, review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1018 (2013) in its Court of Appeals brief at 9. That case 
further supports Arnold's analysis. The Court of Appeals there was confronted with 
remedies available to whistleblowers under Seattle's whistleblower ordinance. Critically, 
state law specifically delegated the power to local governments to adopt their own local 
whistleblower ordinances. Unlike the state law on whistleblowers applicable to state 
employees that gave such employees a cause of action, state law was conspicuously silent 
as to any corresponding remedy for local government employees. State law explicitly 
governed the issue. 
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Neither Cohn nor Trachtenberg stands for the proposition a local 

govenunent could, as the Legislature may, trump the application of state 

policy expressed in RCW 49.48.030. 

The City makes the bold assertion in its petition at 1 that the Court 

of Appeals' opinion "is contrary to every other appellate decision to 

address [the availability of fees under RCW 49.48.030 in an administrative 

proceeding]." That assertion is simply false, ignoring Hanson and 

Mcintyre. But the City's position is troubling for its deliberate refusal to 

come to grips with this Court's analysis of RCW 49.48.030 in Fire 

F . h 12 zg ters. 

Without any citation to language in RCW 49.48.030 itself, or any 

other state law, the City also seemingly contends that its local civil service 

can trump state law on the recovery of attorney fees where it wrongfully 

withheld Arnold's wages. Pet. at 1-2, 4-5, 13. It claims that the City's 

policy denying fees to a prevailing employee somehow overcomes the 

overarching public policy of RCW 49.48.030 set by the Legislature. It is 

wrong. The City offers no authority supporting its novel contention that 

12 The City's citation to stare decisis precedent, pet. at 13-14, is ultimately 
disingenuous. This Court definitely interpreted RCW 49.48.030 in Fire Fighters. 
Contrary Court of Appeals precedent must give way. 1000 Virginia Ltd. Partnership v. 
Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 578, 146 P.3d 423 {2006) ("A decision by this Court is 
binding on all lower courts in the state. When the Court of Appeals fails to follow 
directly controlling authority by this Court it errs.") (citations omitted). 
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local law can preempt state law.13 It cannot cite a single case in which 

RCW 49.48.030 was rendered inapplicable by a local civil service 

ordinance. 

Again, without citation to any authority, the City actually argued 

below that an employee like Arnold, effectively waives her right to fees 

under state law because she receives what the City characterizes as a "low 

cost and speedy civil service forum." 14 The Court of Appeals properly 

rejected that vastly incorrect characterization of the proceedings in 

Arnold's case. Op. at 7-8. The City does not directly make this argwnent 

in its petition but that is the thrust of its mischaracterization of its own 

civil service ordinance. Pet. at 1-2, 4-5, 13. 

The City correctly notes that the powers of administrative agencies 

are derived from the laws creating them, pet. at 10, but that does not mean 

that a local government can, in the absence of direction from the 

Legislature, evade explicit state law. Contrary to the City's assertion, 

made yet again without authority, simply because the City's civil service 

13 The City ignores article XI, § 11 of the Washington Constitution that 
provides for preemption of local police power ordinances that conflict with state (general) 
law. See Br. of Appellant at 17-18. 

14 Below, the City actually decried Arnold's decision to employ counsel at all. 
"Certainly, the matter could have proceeded with far less expense, use of resources and 
without legal counsel." Br. of Resp't at 6 n.5. The City ignores the fact that it fired 
Arnold. The City arrogantly believes that Arnold should simply have meekly accepted 
such punishment or litigated a complex matter on her own against the City represented by 
taxpayer-paid counsel. 
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ordinance chooses not to allow its employees to recover their fees and 

expenses, this does not mean that the City can thereby choose to evade the 

application ofRCW 49.48.030.15 

In sum, the present case involves the recovery of back pay 

equivalent to wages for purposes of RCW 49.48.030 just as in Fire 

Fighters, Hanson, and Mcintyre. The Fire Fighters and Hanson 

employees sought to recover pay withheld during a suspension that was 

unsupported by their collective bargaining agreement and/or applicable 

civil service rules, respectively. Further, Hanson confirms that, for 

purposes of RCW 49.48.030, back pay resulting from an unsupported 

demotion is equivalent to back pay recovery from a suspension. Similarly, 

Arnold succeeded in recovering wages that were owed to her because her

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